2000

WWC Holding Co., Inc v. Public Service
Commission of Utah, Stephen F. Mecham, Clark D.
Jones, and Constance B. White, Commissioners of
the Public Service Commission of Utah : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 8, 1997, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") issued its Universal Service Report and Order, CC Docket 96-45, FCC 97-157 ("Universal Service Order") implementing the Communications Act of 1934, as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the "Act"). The Universal Service Order provides that only eligible telecommunications carriers designated by a state commission shall receive federal universal service support. Under 47 U.S.C. § 214(e), a state commission shall, upon its own motion or upon request, designate a common carrier that meets the requirements set forth by the FCC as an eligible telecommunications carrier ("ETC") for a service area designated by the state commission. The FCC defines a service area as a geographic area established by a state commission for the purpose of determining universal service obligations and support mechanisms. Together, all of a carrier's calling areas represent the overall area for which the carrier shall receive support from federal universal service support mechanisms.

On August 31, 1998, WWC Holding Co., Inc. ("Western Wireless") filed a Petition with the Public Service Commission ("Commission") for designation as an ETC in Utah to receive federal universal service support under the Act and corresponding FCC regulations, and for the purpose of receiving support from the Utah Universal Service Fund ("State Fund") established by the Commission.

Western Wireless requested ETC designation in the U.S. West local exchanges that are wholly contained in Western Wireless' coverage area as defined in Exhibits WW 1.1 and WW1.2. Western Wireless also requested designation in each rural telephone company's exchanges that are inside Western Wireless' signal coverage area in Utah. WW 1.1 is a listing of the local exchange companies and the exchanges included in Western Wireless' application. WW 1.1 is included as Appendix A to this Order. WW 1.2 is a map of the state of Utah with Western Wireless' coverage area superimposed on it. While the coverage area detailed in WW 1.2 may be accurate, the boundaries of the exchanges and service territories are not. The Commission is relying on WW 1.2 only for a description of Western Wireless' coverage area. A portion of WW 1.2 showing the coverage area is included in Appendix A.

The Utah Rural Telecom Association ("URTA") sought intervention. Five members of URTA are incumbent local exchange carriers ("LEC") and the only designated ETC in their rural study areas in which Western Wireless seeks ETC designation.

U.S. West Communications, Inc. ("U.S. West") similarly sought and was granted intervention. U.S. West is an incumbent LEC providing landline local exchange service in certain areas of Utah for which it holds a certificate of public convenience and necessity from the Commission. U.S. West is the only designated ETC for its non-rural exchanges for which Western Wireless seeks ETC designation.

The Commission sought pre-hearing briefs on certain legal issues presented by Western Wireless' Petition. The Commission heard oral arguments on October 25, 1999.

Evidentiary hearings were then held on this matter on November 30 and December 1, 1999. Western Wireless offered the testimony of James Blundell, Director, External Affairs. The Division of Public Utilities ("Division") offered the testimony of Ingo Henningsen, Peggy Egbert, and Dr. George Compton. The Committee of Consumer Services ("CCS") offered the testimony of Phil Bullock. URTA offered the testimony of Raymond Hendershot. U.S. West offered the testimony of Dr. Barbara M. Wilcox.

II. STATUTORY PROVISIONS

To be designated as a federal ETC under the Act, a carrier must: (1) be a common carrier; (2) demonstrate it will provide the supported services set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a) throughout its designated service areas; and (3) present an acceptable plan for advertising its universal service offerings and the charges therefor using media of general distribution. 47 U.S.C. § 214(e); Universal Service Order, ¶ 24.

The FCC's supported services set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a) are:

- a. voice grade access to the public switched telephone network;
- b. local usage;
- c. dual tone multi-frequency signaling or its functional equivalent;
- d. single-party service or its functional equivalent;
- e. access to emergency services;
- f. access to operator services;
- g. access to interexchange service;

- h. access to directory assistance;
- i. toll limitation for qualifying low-income consumers.

In areas served by a rural telephone company, 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(2) further requires the Commission to determine that the designation of an additional ETC is in the public interest.

To obtain funding from the State Fund, the Commission has established the following requirements: (a) a carrier must be designated an ETC under Section 214(e) of the Act; (b) a carrier must be in compliance with applicable Commission orders and rules; (c) a carrier must offer "basic telecommunications service" as defined by Commission Rule R746-360-2; and (d) a carrier must be a facilities-based provider. Utah R746-360-7.

Provision of "basic telecommunications service" requires a carrier to provide access to the public switched network; touch-tone, or its functional equivalent; single-party service with a telephone number listed free in directories that are received free in local calling areas; access to 911 or E911 emergency services (where available); access to long-distance carriers; and access to toll limitation services. Utah R746-360-2(c).

III. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Federal ETC Designation

With its existing network, Western Wireless has testified that it currently provides each of the supported services set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 54.101(a). Each of the FCC's supported services provided by Western Wireless is discussed below:

a. Voice grade access to the public switched telephone network: Western

Wireless provides voice-grade access to the public switched telephone network. Voice-grade access means the ability to make and receive phone calls within a bandwidth of approximately 2700 Hertz between the 300 and 3500 Hertz frequency range. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(i); Universal Service Order, ¶¶ 63-64. Through its interconnection arrangements with local telephone companies, all Western Wireless customers are able to make and receive calls on the public switched telephone network within the prescribed frequency range.

b. Local usage: The FCC requires that a universal service offering include some level of local usage at a flat rate. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(2); Universal Service Order, ¶¶ 66-69. The FCC does not currently require any minimum amount of local usage to be provided by an ETC, but has initiated a separate rulemaking proceeding to address this issue. See, Cross-3, Universal Service Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 98-278 (Oct. 26, 1998). Western Wireless provides local usage, and will include unlimited local usage as part of a universal service offering. Western Wireless will also comply with any minimum local usage requirements adopted by the FCC.

The Commission relies on Western Wireless' testimony to conclude that the area of free unlimited local usage offered as part of the basic universal service offer will be at least as comprehensive as the areas currently provided by the local exchange companies providing service in a given area.

c. Dual tone multi-frequency ("DTMF") signaling or its functional equivalent:

DTMF is a method of signaling that facilitates the transportation of call set-up and call detail information. Western Wireless' network uses out-of-band digital signaling and in-band multi-frequency signaling. Western Wireless provides the functional equivalent of DTMF signaling in satisfaction of the FCC's requirement. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(3); Universal Service Order, ¶ 71.

d. Single-party service or its functional equivalent: Western Wireless provides the functional equivalent of single-party service. Western Wireless provides a dedicated message path for the length of a user's transmission, which the FCC has deemed to be the functional equivalent of single-party service. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(4); Universal Service Order, ¶ 62.

e. Access to emergency services: Western Wireless provides all of its customers with access to emergency services by dialing 911. The ability to reach a public emergency service provider through dialing 911 is a required universal service offering. In addressing enhanced 911 or E911 Western Wireless testified that:

E911 . . . which includes the capability of providing both automatic numbering information ("ANI") and automatic location information ("ALI"), is only required if a public emergency service provider makes arrangements with the local provider for the delivery of such information. *See Universal Service Order*, ¶¶ 72-73. Moreover, a wireless carrier such as WWC is not required to provide E911 services until a local emergency service provider has made arrangements for the delivery of ALI and ANI from carriers and has established a cost recovery mechanism. *Universal Service Order*, & 73. . . . To date, no public emergency service provider in Utah has made arrangements for the delivery of

ANI or ALI from WWC. (WW 1, DeJordy Direct Testimony, pg 12.)

Western Wireless testified that when it received a bona fide request from an emergency service provider in accordance with the law cited above, it would provide E911 for its wireless local loop customers.

f. Access to operator services: Western Wireless provides access to operator services to arrange for the billing or completion, or both, of a telephone call. The service is provided by either Western Wireless or other entities, including LECs or interexchange carriers, in satisfaction of the FCC's requirements. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(6); Universal Service Order, ¶ 75.

g. Access to interexchange service: Western Wireless provides access to interexchange service for the purpose of making and receiving toll or interexchange calls in satisfaction of FCC requirements. 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(7); Universal Service Order, ¶ 78. This service is provided through interconnection arrangements Western Wireless has with several interexchange carriers. Western Wireless exceeds the FCC's requirements by providing customers the ability to access their interexchange carrier of choice by dialing an appropriate access code.

h. Access to directory assistance: Western Wireless provides all of its customers with access to directory assistance by dialing "411" or "555-1212" as required by FCC Rule 54.101(a)(8) and Universal Service Order, ¶ 80.

i. Toll limitation for qualifying low-income consumers: Western Wireless currently provides toll blocking services for international calls and will use this same technology to provide a toll blocking service for its qualifying low-income consumers receiving subsidies pursuant to the federal Lifeline program. This satisfies FCC Rule 54.101(a)(9).

Western Wireless advertises its current wireless service offerings to both residential and business customers through different media services of general distribution, including newspaper, television, radio, and billboard advertising. Western Wireless also maintains retail store locations throughout its authorized service areas in Utah. Western Wireless testifies that it will advertise its universal service offerings and rates, using these same media of distribution and in a way that fully informs the general public, and will comply with any form and content requirements adopted by the FCC or the Commission in the future and required of all designated ETCs. Western Wireless thus meets the advertising requirement of 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1).

With regard to the U.S. West exchanges within Western Wireless' requested designated service areas listed on late-filed Exhibit WW-1.1, Western Wireless is licensed and presently provides the supported services throughout those exchanges, and once designated as an ETC Western Wireless has testified it can and will offer and advertise universal service throughout each exchange. To the extent there might be a few small and discrete areas not within Western Wireless' existing signal coverage, Western Wireless has testified it can and shall extend its service within a reasonable time to reach any customers who request service.

With regard to the U.S. West exchanges, the Commission will not add further criteria for federal ETC designation to those set forth in Section 214(e)(1) of the Act. Universal Service Order, ¶ 24. Consistent with the Act and FCC Rules, Western Wireless satisfies all criteria for federal ETC designation in exchanges served by U.S. West that are in Western Wireless' signal coverage area.

With regard to the exchanges in the rural, or independent companies, the Commission is also required to consider if the designation of a second ETC in areas already served is consistent with the public interest. This consideration is in addition to the other measures included in the law. Western Wireless seeks ETC designation in the Utah study areas of Gunnison Telephone Company, Manti Telephone Company, Navajo Communications Company-Utah, Skyline Telecom and South Central Utah Telephone Association, Inc. ("URTA Companies"). While Western Wireless is licensed and provides the supported services throughout these companies' study areas in which it seeks designation, the Commission has concerns regarding whether the designation would actually be in the public interest.

The concerns focus primarily on the potential impact of the designation on the State's Universal Public Telecommunications Service Support Fund (the State Fund). The independent companies are currently regulated under rate of return regulation. In a sense the State Fund is the final revenue that makes these companies' rate of return meet the required levels. After all other sources of funds are considered, the State Fund must make up the difference between reasonable costs and all revenues. If, by designating Western Wireless as an

additional ETC in the respective study areas of the URTA Companies, the effect is to reduce the companies' revenue, without an equal reduction in costs, the State Fund would be called upon to make up the difference. Such a situation would cause a significant increase in the burdens placed upon the State Fund (i.e., all Utah telecommunications customers) without corresponding public benefits.

Further, Western Wireless testifies that their prices may well be higher than the incumbent's prices, up to 125% of the incumbent's prices, therefore offering a lower cost service is not a benefit that can be counted on to balance out the public interest equation. In fact the primary potential benefit of designating Western Wireless as a "rural" ETC could have been that areas that are currently not served by any incumbent, but are within Western Wireless' signal coverage area, could now be served by Western Wireless. However since Western Wireless has only asked for designation in areas that are already being served, even this potential benefit is lost in the public interest analysis.

The Commission finds that because of the possible negative impact on Utah's State Fund it is not in the public interest to add a second ETC to the URTA Companies' service areas at this time. However, if Western Wireless is willing, the Commission believes that designating Western Wireless as an ETC in the areas of the state that are not currently served by any telecommunications corporation, which are generally in Western Wireless' signal coverage area, would advance universal service by bringing telecommunications services to Utah's unserved rural citizens.

State Level Qualifications for Approval to Draw on the State Fund

Western Wireless has testified it could qualify to draw from the State Fund for the U.S. West exchanges in its application area. The services supported by the State Fund as set forth in the Commission's definition of "basic telecommunications service" are similar to the FCC's service requirements under FCC Rule 54.101(a). While the Utah and FCC supported services are expressed in slightly different words, there are few substantive differences between them. As mentioned earlier, the Commission is relying on Western Wireless' testimony that the free local calling area in every area served will be as large, or larger, than the calling area currently provided by U.S. West in the exchanges in its signal coverage area if it is granted state level approval. Further, Western Wireless has testified, and we rely on that testimony as well, that they will obey the Commission's Rules with respect to qualifying to receive money from the State Fund. Specifically, Western Wireless will need to charge no more than the Affordable Base Rate for their universal service offering. The Commission has set rates for the U.S. West exchanges dealt with in this order, and presumes that these rates represent the affordable rates for the relevant exchanges or areas.

Western Wireless currently provides within its existing network the following State Fund supported services or their functional equivalents: access to the public switched network; touch-tone; single-party service; access to 911 emergency services; access to long-distance carriers; and access to toll limitation services. Western Wireless testifies that it will provide a free telephone listing in a directory that is distributed without charge and E911

emergency services when properly requested.

We find that Western Wireless qualifies for federal ETC designation as defined by the Act and 47 C.F.R. § 54.1 et seq., in the exchanges set forth on Exhibit WW-1.1 that are part of the U.S. West service territory, for the purpose of receiving federal universal service support. Further, we find that Western Wireless qualifies for the designation of eligible telecommunications carrier for purposes of drawing from the State Fund for the exchanges and study areas as set forth on Exhibit WW-1.1 1 that are part of the U.S. West service territory. We stress that the finding that Western Wireless meets the criteria for federal and state level designation is a recognition only of their potential to provide the service. Western Wireless will be able to draw from the funds only as they provide service to actual customers, and only for so long as they remain in compliance with Commission rules (and federal guidelines) with respect to prices, quality, services, and offerings.

The Commission has jurisdiction and authority to ensure that Western Wireless continues to meet the ETC criteria set forth in Section 214(e)(1) of the Act and the requirements of the State Fund. Nothing prevents the Commission from, on its own motion, modifying, suspending or revoking Western Wireless' ETC designation if it does not meet those obligations.

An ETC's obligation to "offer the services that are supported by Federal universal service support mechanisms," as required by 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1), connotes not just willingness to offer the services, but actual performance of the services. Such performance in turn connotes provision of the services at an adequate service level. Whether an ETC (Western Wireless) is

actually performing such services could arise in a proceeding to modify, revoke, or suspend the designation.

IV. ORDER

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, that:

1. Western Wireless is designated an ETC under the federal guidelines in the U.S. West Local Exchanges included in their application, conditioned on meeting the requirements of this order. On the same conditions, Western Wireless is also designated as qualifying to receive State Fund disbursements as services are provided, in the same U.S. West exchanges for which federal designation has been granted. The Commission notes that it has recently approved the exchange sales in Docket 99-049-65, and is in the process of preparing an order with respect to that Docket. Therefore, the exchanges included in Docket 99-049-65 are not included in the area approved in this Order.

2. Western Wireless shall provide universal service pursuant to a written service agreement in place with its customers. The Service Agreement shall be filed for review with the Commission, and shall contain provisions which ensure it will provide universal service as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1) and 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a) and this Order. The required components of this offering are reviewed in this Order above. We note that our approval is conditional on Western Wireless offering unlimited local usage as part of the universal service offering package that covers, at a minimum, all areas currently covered by the incumbent local

exchange provider on an individual calling area basis Western Wireless may offer larger free unlimited local calling areas.

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