2000

WWC Holding Co., Inc v. Public Service Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission's Report and Order should be affirmed. The Court should not substitute its judgment for the Commission's determination that Western Wireless did not meet the burden of establishing the public interest was served by designating it as a second ETC in areas of the State served by rural telephone companies. Contrary to Western Wireless' argument, this Court should not enter affirmative findings of fact that Western Wireless is entitled to ETC designation as having met the public interest standard. Such an action would be contrary to firmly established precedent. The public interest is a matter that the state commission is specifically charged by statute to determine and is a prerequisite to granting ETC status in rural service areas. Such a determination must be upheld on appeal if it is supported by any substantial evidence.

Congress fully recognized that competition, by itself, will not produce the intended universal service results in lower volume, higher cost, rural areas and Congress adopted explicit universal service provisions to deal with potentially detrimental impacts of competition contrary to the public interest in such rural areas. That is precisely why Congress gave state commissions the ability to refuse to designate a second ETC in rural areas. If Congress had intended that promoting competition be the sole criterion in determining ETC status, there would have been no purpose in requiring a separate public interest finding as a prerequisite to ETC designation in rural areas, since all requesting carrier, being additional competitors, would be designated ETCs.

The Commission acted reasonably and appropriately in denying ETC status to

Western Wireless. Western Wireless failed to set forth an adequate record upon which the Commission could have determined that its ETC designation would be in the public interest. The principle problem with Western Wireless' approach is that it asked the Commission to accept its bare assertions without any data or support. Western Wireless never provided to the Commission information on its universal service offering, its pricing and its approach to customer-specific issues. The record does not establish that the purported benefits of such a designation outweigh the detrimental impacts the designation could have on rural Utah and the state Fund. The record establishes that such a designation would in fact be contrary to the public interest. The Commission found that such a designation may have an adverse impact on the preservation and advancement of universal service. Under-utilization of the incumbent telephone company's network, stranded capacity and the increased use of universal service funds to mitigate network economy losses, increased costs and increased prices of service in rural Utah were among the detriments of ETC designation that outweighed any potential benefits.

Finally, the Commission's requirement that Western Wireless price its services at no more than the affordable base rate was not erroneous. This ruling was consistent with the Commission's statutory mandate to ensure that rates are just, reasonable and affordable. When Western Wireless crossed the boundary from being just another common carrier, to becoming an ETC (in Qwest territories) and to receive universal service funds, it lost its exemption from rate regulation, to the extent that its rates must be affordable

ARGUMENT

I. The Impact on Universal Service is the Principal Determinant of Public Interest.

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the “Act”) grants states explicit authority to determine which carriers should be designated ETCs. See 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(2) (1999). Only ETCs designated by a state commission are entitled to receive universal service support. In the Matter of Federal-State Board on Universal Service, Report and Order, CC Docket No. 96-45, 12 FCC Rcd 88776 (May 8, 1997) (“Universal Service Order”), corrected in CC Docket No. 96-45 Erratum, FCC 97-157 (June 4, 1997), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part, remanded in part sub. nom. Office of Public Utility Counsel v. FCC*, 183 F. 3d 393 (5th Cir. 1999).

Under the Communications Act of 1934 as amended by the 1996 Act, the United States adopted a two-pronged telecommunications policy. The 1996 amendments created a pro-competitive telecommunications policy. See 47 U.S.C. §§ 251 and 253, - Interconnections and Removal of Barriers to Entry. In addition, the historical policy of universal service, 47 U.S.C. § 151, was re-emphasized in the 1996 amendments:

Consumers in all regions of the Nation, including low-income consumers and those in rural, insular and high cost areas, should have access to telecommunications and information services, including interexchange services and advanced telecommunications and information services, that are reasonably comparable to those services provided in urban areas and that are available at rates that are reasonably comparable to rates charged for similar services in urban areas.

47 U.S.C. § 254. Thus, after the 1996 amendments, the two-pronged telecommunications policy includes a preference for a competitive market structure for the delivery of

telecommunications services, and a commitment to preservation and advancement of universal service.

A competitive market policy is modified, however, by specific safeguards in the Act that reflect Congress' realization that rural service areas may not be amenable to a competitive market. The safeguard provisions include a careful examination by a State commission of whether more than one carrier should be designated to receive universal service support in a rural service area. Section 214(e) of the Act provides:

Upon request, and consistent with public interest, convenience and necessity, the State Commission may, in the case of an area served by a rural telephone company, and shall, in the case of all other areas, designate more than one common carrier as an eligible telecommunications carrier for a service area designated by the State commission....Before designating an additional eligible telecommunications carrier for an area served by a rural telephone company, the State commission shall find that the designation is in the public interest.

47 U.S.C. § 214(e) (emphasis added). The Act provides the state commission great discretion in regard to certification of ETCs in rural LEC areas. Before the commission may designate more than one ETC within any service area served by a rural telephone company, the Act requires that it must "find that the designation is in the public interest". See 47 U.S.C. §214(e).

The Act then recognizes that not all carriers are entitled to be designated as ETCs by the state commission. However, Western Wireless takes the position that by designating it as an additional ETC, competition will result and that, since, it argues, competition is in the public interest, the public interest test is thereby met. (R0051, Prefiled Direct Testimony of Gene DeJordy, p. 21; See also Petitioner's Brief, p. 23-25).

This simplistic argument misses the very point that the Act incorporates: competition can have a detrimental impact contrary to the public interest in rural service areas. It also ignores the adverse impacts of such designation. Moreover, the record does not lead to the conclusion advanced by Western Wireless that there are significant benefits in such a designation. It is clear that such so-called benefits, do not overcome the detriments of such designation as set forth in the record, in order to justify an ETC designation.² All of the other parties in the docket below, took the position that the potential detriments of ETC designation outweighed any purported benefits.

If Congress had intended that competition be the sole or controlling criterion, there would be no purpose in a separate public interest finding and all requesting carriers would be designated ETCs because each additional carrier is another competitor. But universal service policy goals are separate from the promotion of competition. Congress fully recognized that competition, by itself, will not produce the intended universal service results in lower volume, higher cost, rural areas and Congress adopted explicit universal service provisions to deal with potentially detrimental impacts of competition contrary to the public interest in such rural areas. That is precisely why Congress gave state commissions the ability to refuse to designate a second ETC in rural areas. The unequivocal language of section 214(e) providing that an additional eligible

² Contrary to Western Wireless' contention, the Commission didn't specifically find there would be "no benefits" by designating Western Wireless an ETC. See Petitioner's Brief, at p. 2, 9. Instead, the Report and Order and the record support the conclusion that the detriments to such designation outweighed any benefits and that, therefore, such a designation was not in the public interest.

telecommunications carrier “may” be designated in rural service areas - as distinguished from “all other areas” where an additional carrier “shall” be designated - illustrates that a policy favoring designation of a competitive ETC does not apply to rural service areas. Thus, contrary to Western Wireless’ assertion, competition alone does not establish the public interest.

The public interest determination requires an examination of the impacts arising from the introduction of a second ETC in rural areas and consideration of the effects such impacts have upon the public interest. Here, the Commission balanced the question of competition against the public policy objectives of universal service and found that Western Wireless had not established that it was entitled to ETC designation. The Commission found that such a designation may have an adverse impact on the preservation and advancement of universal service. (R00198, Report and Order, p. 12-13).

Contrary to what Western Wireless contends, a prohibition on competition is not at issue here. The rural telephone companies are not requesting protection from competition. Western Wireless already operates and competes in the rural exchanges and URTA does not seek to prevent that. Rather, the refusal to designate a second ETC is a mechanism to limit the availability of universal service support funds. The rural telephone companies seek to limit access to universal service funds because of the adverse impacts on such funds recognized by the Commission in its Report and Order.

II. Applying the Appropriate Standard of Review, The Court should Give Deference to and Affirm the Commission

The fundamental threshold question is whether it is in the public interest for any additional ETC to be designated in an area served by a rural telephone company. Resolution of this fundamental question is a matter to be determined by the state commission.³ This determination is a question of fact, or at most, a mixed issue of fact and law. In either case, the Court should grant deference to the Commission's determination that ETC designation to Western Wireless is not in the public interest.

When reviewing matters of fact, the Court affords great deference to the Commission's findings, "upholding those based on evidence of any substance." Telecommunications Resellers of Utah vs. Public Service Commission, 747 P.2d 1029, 1030 (Utah 1987). In Utah Department of Business Regulation v. Public Service Commission, 734 P. 2d 431 (Utah 1986), the Court stated: "[i]n deciding whether the Commission's factual findings will sustain its transfer of the certificate, we must review those findings with the 'greatest degree of deference' and affirm those findings where they are supported by evidence of 'any substance whatever.'" Id. at 433. (citations omitted). The provision that there be substantial evidence to support a finding does not require or specify a quantity of evidence but requires only "such relevant evidence as a

³ 47 U.S.C. 214(e). "The discretion afforded a state commission under section 214(e)(2) is the discretion to decline to designate more than one eligible carrier in an area that is served by a rural telephone company; in that context, the state commission must determine whether the designation of an additional eligible carrier is in the public interest." Universal Service Order, ¶ 135.

reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 565 (1988). The Court gives deference to the administrative agency on questions of fact because it stands in a superior position from which to evaluate and weigh the evidence and assess the credibility and accuracy of witnesses’ recollections. Drake v. Industrial Commission, 939 P.2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997).

Section 63-46b-16(4)(g) Utah Code Ann. (2001), in discussing appellate court review of administrative agency actions, indicates that the Court should grant relief only if: “[t]he agency action is based upon a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court.” (emphasis added).⁴ All legitimate inferences drawn from such factual findings are examined in the light most favorable to the agency’s findings. See Hales Sand & Gravel v. Audit Division, 842 P.2d 887, 888 (Utah 1992). As set forth below, based on the record as a whole, there was substantial evidence before the Commission that reasonably supported its conclusion. Moreover, there was insufficient evidence submitted by Western Wireless to sustain another conclusion.

For mixed findings of fact and law, Commission orders “must be rationally based and are set aside only if they are imposed arbitrarily and capriciously or are beyond the ‘tolerable limits of reason.’” Telecommunications Resellers, supra, 747 P.2d at 1030,

⁴ With respect to implied findings, findings can be implied if it is reasonable to assume that the trial court actually considered the controverted evidence and necessarily made a finding to resolve the controversy, but simply failed to record the factual determination it made.” Hall v. Hall, 858 P.2 d 1018, 1025 (Ut. App. 1993).

quoting Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission, 658 P.2d 601, 611-12 (Utah 1983). In State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994), the Court cited *Judicial Discretion of the Trial Court, Viewed From Above*, 22 Syracuse L. Rev. 635 (1971) by Professor Maurice Rosenberg (hereinafter Rosenberg) to discuss the appellate review spectrum. The metaphor of a pasture was used to describe the degrees of discretion:

To the extent that a trial judge's pasture is small because he or she is fenced in closely by the appellate courts and given little room to roam in applying a stated legal principle to facts, the operative standard approximates what can be described as 'de novo'. . . . But to the extent that the pasture is large, the trial judge has considerable freedom in applying a legal principle to the facts, freedom to make decisions which appellate judges might not make themselves *ab initio* but will not reverse - in effect, creating the freedom to be wrong without incurring reversal. Only when the trial judge crosses an existing fence or when the appellate court feels comfortable in more closely defining the law by fencing off a part of the pasture previously available does the trial judge's decision exceed the broad discretion granted.

Id. at 937-938.

The Court explained this principle by reference to Soter's, Inc. v. Deseret Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n, 857 P.2d 935 (Utah 1993), where the Court stripped back the law on the doctrine of waiver to its most basic form. The Court recognized that its previous cases had developed an inconsistent elaboration on waiver based on the specific facts of the cases. The Court acknowledged the futility of trying to craft such a fact-specific doctrine and simply instructed trial courts to apply the basic doctrine to the facts of the case. In commenting on the Soter's case, the Court in Pena observed:

The net effect was to say that waiver is a highly fact-dependent question, one that we cannot profitably review de novo in every case because we cannot hope to work out a coherent statement of the law through a course of

such decisions. In terms of our present discussion, Soter's increased the size of the trial court's pasture because we found ourselves unable to describe the share of the smaller one with adequate clarity.

State v. Pena, supra, 869 P.2d at 938.

In summarizing, the Court in Pena, cited to Rosenberg to set forth three circumstances where discretion ought to be left to the trial court: (1) when the facts are so complex and varying that no rule adequately addressing these facts can be spelled out; (2) “when the situation to which the legal principle is to be applied is sufficiently new to the courts that appellate judges are unable to anticipate and articulate definitively what factors should be outcome determinative”; and (3) when the trial judge has observed things such as appearance and demeanor of a witness that cannot be adequately reflected in the record. Id. at 939.

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